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BEFORE THE ILLINOIS POLLUTION CONTROL BOARD
In the Matter Of:

JOHNS MANVILLE, a Delaware
corporation,

Complainant, PCB No. 14-3
V.

ILLINOIS DEPARTMENT OF
TRANSPORTATION,

N N N N N N N N N N N N N

Respondent.

COMPLAINANT’S RESPONSE TO RESPONDENT’S MOTION IN LIMINE TO
STRIKE THE OPINIONS OF DOUGLAS G. DORGAN, JR.

Complainant JOHNS MANVILLE (“JM”) hereby submits its response to Respondent
ILLINOIS DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION (“IDOT”)’s Motion in Limine to Strike®
the Opinions of Douglas G. Dorgan, Jr. (the “Motion”) as follows:

INTRODUCTION

The Hearing Officer has previously found that JM’s expert, Mr. Douglas Dorgan,
possesses knowledge and experience such that his testimony *“could consequently assist the
Board in its determinations.” (April 26, 2016 Hearing Officer Order, p. 3.) This remains true.
Nonetheless, as IDOT tried to do during the first phase of this case, IDOT again attempts to
devalue Mr. Dorgan’s extensive experience in the environmental field and distorts Mr. Dorgan’s
opinions and testimony. Where IDOT argues that Mr. Dorgan lacks qualifications to render an

expert opinion about JM’s remediation costs attributable to IDOT’s violations of the Illinois

! It is unclear precisely what relief IDOT seeks in its Motion. The Motion is labeled as one “to strike,” but actually
requests an Order “barring” certain opinion testimony at trial—two different types of relief. “Striking” Mr.
Dorgan’s opinions makes little sense given that they have not yet been admitted into the evidentiary record in this
case.
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Environmental Protection Act (the “Act”), IDOT oddly overlooks Mr. Dorgan’s testimony
concerning his significant experience in conducting analyses to attribute costs to particular
parties responsible for environmental contamination. But even more peculiar is the fact that
IDOT seeks to impose an untenable and non-existent requirement that a proffered expert must
have opined previously on the exact same issues in the context of the exact same facts to qualify
as an expert. This is nonsensical.

Where IDOT argues that Mr. Dorgan’s methodologies do not meet the Frye test for
expert testimony, IDOT disregards authority holding that the Board does not apply the Frye test
and holding that the Frye test is, in any event, inapplicable where an expert’s methods are
standard, do not involve scientific tests or studies, and are not novel or new. Where IDOT
argues that Mr. Dorgan is “cherry-picking” evidence, IDOT itself “cherry-picks” from Mr.
Dorgan’s Expert Reports and ignores Mr. Dorgan’s testimony and thorough citations to the
documentary evidence on which all of his conclusions are based. And where IDOT argues that
Mr. Dorgan is attempting to re-litigate issues previously decided by the Board, IDOT
fundamentally misunderstands Mr. Dorgan’s opinions and the findings in the Board’s December
15, 2016 Interim Opinion and Order (“Interim Opinion”) and brushes aside evidence newly
discovered after the first hearing in this case. IDOT’s Motion should be denied.

ARGUMENT

1. Mr. Dorgan Is Qualified To Provide The Opinions In His Expert Reports.

IDOT’s renewed attack on Mr. Dorgan’s qualifications is based on its erroneous
contention that, to be allowed to offer opinion testimony in a matter, an expert must have been
tasked with the exact same assignment previously. (Motion, 8 111.B, p. 5.) There is no such
requirement in the Illinois Rules, Board regulations, or the law. Nor is there any requirement

that an expert witness have written articles or given presentations on the issues on which he
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opines, despite IDOT’s suggestion to the contrary (see Motion, § I11.B, p. 6). Indeed, it is well-
settled under Illinois law that:

A person will be allowed to testify as an expert if his experience and

qualifications afford him knowledge that is not common to laypersons, and where

his testimony will aid the trier of fact in reaching its conclusions. There is no

predetermined formula for how an expert acquires specialized knowledge or

experience and the expert can gain such through practical experience, scientific

study, education, training or research. Thus, formal academic training or specific

degrees are not required to qualify a person as an expert; practical experience in a

field may serve just as well to qualify him. An expert need only have knowledge

and experience beyond that of an average citizen.

Thompson v. Gordon, 221 Ill. 2d 414, 428 (11l. 2006) (affirming reversal of trial court’s decision
to strike expert affidavit and holding that the expert was not required to be a licensed civil
engineer to testify as a retained opinion witness) (internal citations omitted); see also Pyskaty v.
Oyama, 266 Ill. App. 3d 801, 808 (lll. App. Ct. 1994) (“An expert’s opinion is allowed on the
basis of his knowledge or experience which may aid the trier of fact.”).

The Board has already heard days’-worth of expert testimony from Mr. Dorgan during
the first Hearing in this matter and the Hearing Officer has previously found that Mr. Dorgan
“may testify as an expert given his knowledge and experience, which go beyond that of an
ordinary citizen . . . [His] testimony could conceivably aid the Board.” (April 26, 2016 Hearing
Officer Order, p. 3.) By virtue of his experience, education, and training, Mr. Dorgan has
knowledge and experience regarding allocating/attributing environmental cleanup costs well
beyond that of an average citizen.

Still, IDOT’s Motion quotes, but nevertheless entirely ignores, Mr. Dorgan’s testimony
that Mr. Dorgan has “been tasked with assignments similar to this on multiple occasions.”

(Compare Motion, § I11.B with Transcript of July 31, 2018 Deposition of Douglas Dorgan

(“Dorgan | Dep.”), attached hereto as Exhibit 1, p. 183:1-10.) Though omitted from IDOT’s
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Motion, Mr. Dorgan testified that, in reaching his attribution opinions, he relied on his expertise,
including by virtue of having served as an expert witness on two previous occasions, in:

[S]imilar undertakings where | have had occasion to evaluate other similar issues

of environmental contamination . . . where multiple parties are involved and

responsible for their presence and ultimately responsible for their cleanup,

including instances where I’ve had to evaluate costs incurred with a very similar

experience where | had to evaluate the reasonableness, were the costs reasonable,

was the scope of work reasonable and then of the costs that were incurred, how

should they be divided between the parties that have responsibility for the

cleanup.
(Dorgan | Dep., pp. 48:24-52:9 (emphasis added); see also id., p. 62:6-24 (“I have had several,
probably a half dozen other cases, matters, where | . . . was working as part of the team that was
evaluating the information, writing, dissecting information, allocating costs, evaluating
reasonableness of the costs incurred and ultimately supporting the technical evaluation . . .”).)
Similar to this case, Mr. Dorgan has been called on to and has assessed the degree of
responsibility for property contamination between parties. (Id., pp. 191:6-192:5 (* . . . [O]ne of
our jobs was to look, in the universe of all the work that had been done at the site, who was
responsible for the contamination that was present and to what degree each party was
responsible.”).) Like here, he undertook a similar process in a prior matter, looking at the work
performed, reviewing the costs incurred, and determining the percentage of costs attributable to a
particular entity. (1d., pp. 192:6-193:8.) Mr. Dorgan is therefore qualified to offer opinions in
aiding the Board in determining “[t]he share of JM’s costs attributable to IDOT.” (Interim
Opinion, p. 22.)

Further, Mr. Dorgan has over thirty years of experience as an environmental consultant.
(See Motion, Exhibit A, § 1.1.) Throughout his lengthy career in the environmental field, Mr.

Dorgan has served as a construction manager for large remediation projects similar to the project

undertaken at the Sites and, in doing so, designed remediation work and provided consulting
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oversight—all things Mr. Dorgan had to and did take into consideration in opining on which
costs are attributable to IDOT here. (Dorgan | Dep., pp. 57:14-62:5, 65:10-67:16, 70:15-72:1.)
Indeed, IDOT’s own expert, Mr. Steven Gobelman, stated that he had no reason to believe there
was any issue with Mr. Dorgan’s qualifications to offer the opinions Mr. Dorgan did in this
matter. (Transcript of October 2, 2018 Deposition of Steven Gobelman (“Gobelman | Dep.”),
attached hereto as Exhibit 2, p. 7:4-8.)

If, as IDOT contends, an expert must have been involved previously in the exact “sort of
attribution exercise” occurring in this case to be qualified as an expert (Motion, 8§ Il1.B, p. 5),
IDOT’s expert, Mr. Steven Gobelman, would lack the necessary qualifications. Mr. Gobelman
testified that he was only relying on his background in “evaluating costs on highway authority
agreements” in reaching his opinions in this phase of the case. (Gobelman I Dep., p. 15:15-22.)
He otherwise has no experience doing cost allocations under CERCLA, state law, or outside the
context of highway authority agreements (which have no pertinence here). (Id., pp. 16:1-17:24.)
He cannot identify a single method courts use to allocate costs among potentially responsible
parties. (Id., pp. 19:23-20:5.) He, too, has not written any articles on any cost allocation analysis
similar to the analysis being done in this case. (Compare id., p. 20:6-9 with Motion, § II1.B, p.
6.) Mr. Gobelman’s curriculum vitae does not list any experience in allocating or attributing
costs to parties involved in an environmental remediation project (see “Expert Rebuttal Report of
Steven Gobelman on Damages Attributable to IDOT based on IPCB Order of December 15,
2016” dated August 22, 2018 (“Gobelman Rebuttal Report”), attached hereto as Exhibit 3, § II,
Appendix B), and Mr. Gobelman admits he has no experience relevant to his claimed opinions

not listed on his curriculum vitae. (Gobelman I Dep., p. 20:10-14.)
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Unlike Mr. Gobelman, Mr. Dorgan has specific experience on attributing cleanup costs
associated with contamination to various parties. Mr. Dorgan is plainly qualified to offer the
opinions in his Expert Reports regarding the costs that should be attributed to IDOT as a result of
IDOT’s violations of the Act. IDOT’s Motion should be denied.

2. Mr. Dorgan Utilized An Appropriate And Admissible Methodology In His Expert
Reports.

IDOT next complains that Mr. Dorgan does not identify which method he used to reach
his opinions, suggesting that his purported “failure” to identify a method renders his
methodology as one that is not generally accepted or admissible under the standard articulated in
Frye v. United States, 293 F.3d 1013 (D.C. Cir. 1923). (Motion, 8§ III.C.) The Frye test,
however, is inapplicable here. Mr. Dorgan’s methodology does not involve scientific studies or
tests and is neither new nor novel, but rather, is standard and admissible under the Board’s
admissibility standards and Illinois law.

While IDOT argues that “Illinois courts adhere to the standard for the admissibility of
expert testimony articulated by the court in Frye” (Motion, n.3), the Board does not adhere to the
Frye standard. Notably, IDOT’s Motion does not identify any Board or Hearing Officer Order
excluding an expert opinion or testimony because it did not pass the Frye test. The absence of
any applicable Board decisions is likely because the admission of evidence under the Board
Rules is a “relaxed standard,” reflecting “the Board’s ability to comprehend scientific issues in a
way a general court or jury may not,” and, as such, an expert’s testimony and opinion is
admissible so long as it will assist the Board to determine the facts at issue. 35 Ill. Admin. Code
101.626; Sierra Club et al. v. Midwest Generation, LLC, PCB 13-15, Board Order (May 10,
2018) (“[T]he Board need not apply Rule 702 here. Under the Board’s procedural rules,

evidence that is admissible under Illinois’ civil rules of evidence will be admitted, but the Board
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may admit evidence that is inadmissible in Illinois’ civil courts when the evidence is material,
relevant, and reliable.”); People v. Atkinson Landfill Co., PCB 13-28, slip op. at 9 (Jan. 9, 2014).

A Frye analysis does not apply for the additional reason that the methodology used by
Mr. Dorgan, described at length in his Expert Reports, is standard, is not based on scientific
studies or tests, and is not “new” or “novel.” See e.g., In re Commitment of Simons, 213 Ill. 2d
523, 530 (Ill. 2004) (“Significantly, the Frye test applies only to ‘new’ or ‘novel’ scientific
methods. Generally speaking, a scientific method is [only] considered ‘new’ or ‘novel’ if it is
‘original or striking’ or ‘does not resemble something formerly known or used.””) (internal
citations omitted); People v. McKown, 226 Ill. 2d 245, 254 (1ll. 2007) (“Because Frye applies
only to scientific evidence, we must first determine whether the results of [the] testing are
scientific evidence subject to the Frye standard. Scientific evidence is the product of scientific
tests or studies.”); In re Marriage of Alexander, 368 Ill. App. 3d 192, 196-97 (lll. App. Ct. 2006)
(“It is important to remember that the Frye test only applies to evidence that is both novel and
scientific. If an expert’s opinion is not novel or scientific, it is not subject to the Frye test . . . If
an expert’s opinion is derived solely from his or her observations and experiences, the opinion is
generally not considered scientific evidence.”) (internal citations omitted).

Even under Illinois Rule of Evidence 702, then, Mr. Dorgan’s expert opinions are
admissible. If “scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to
understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by
knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion
or otherwise.” ILL. R. EvID. 702. Rule 702 is a two-part analysis. First, a determination is made

whether an expert uses a standard or common methodology. Second, if the methodology is not a
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common methodology, only then is the Frye test is considered. The Hearing Officer need not
reach this second prong with respect to Mr. Dorgan’s opinions.

Mr. Dorgan specifically testified that the work he relied upon and did in tabulating JM’s
costs for implementing the remedial work and in attributing the costs to IDOT were “standard
methodologies. There wasn’t anything unusual or cutting edge that was used. This is all very
straightforward kind of work.” (Dorgan | Dep., pp. 176:15-179:4.) Further, nowhere does
IDOT’s Motion argue that the evidence from Mr. Dorgan it now seeks to exclude is based on
“scientific” tests or studies. To the contrary, Mr. Dorgan performed a technical analysis—which
did not involve or require scientific tests or studies—to assess the extent to which IDOT’s
violations of the Act caused JM’s costs. Because Mr. Dorgan utilized a standard, non-striking,
methodology that he had used previously and that did not involve scientific tests or studies, Mr.
Dorgan’s opinions are admissible under the Board regulations and Illinois Rule of Evidence 702,
and application of Frye is not appropriate or warranted.

3. Mr. Dorgan’s Opinions On Capping Costs Are Not Speculative Or Based On
Cherry-Picked Evidence.

IDOT erroneously argues that Mr. Dorgan “cherry-picked” evidence to reach his opinions
on cost attribution, but only specifically takes issue with Mr. Dorgan’s opinion on the $341,003
in capping costs on Site 3 attributable to IDOT. (Motion, 8 I11.D.) IDOT’s dispute with Mr.
Dorgan’s attribution of capping costs is not a legitimate one. IDOT cites to no law that prohibits
an expert from referencing data that supports his opinion. To the contrary, citing to supporting
evidence is, in fact, a critical aspect of an expert report. IDOT claims that Mr. Dorgan’s opinion
on Site 3 capping costs “failed to acknowledge” a summary sentence in the USEPA’s
Enforcement Action Memorandum (“EAM?) (id., p. 9), but then fails to explain why such a lack

of specific acknowledgement mandates exclusion of the entirety of Mr. Dorgan’s opinions. In
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fact, the EAM sentence referenced by IDOT - that the “site conditions” and “exposure
pathways” described in the EAM may present an imminent and substantial endangerment —
actually support Mr. Dorgan’s opinions. Mr. Dorgan opines that the remedy was driven by
buried pieces of ACM, which the EAM repeatedly describes as a problematic exposure pathway.
(See e.g., id., pp. 4-6, 8.) IDOT’s argument simply makes no sense.

But even if IDOT’s argument were logical, IDOT cannot plausibly argue that Mr. Dorgan
disregarded the factors identified in the USEPA’s EAM where Mr. Dorgan’s Expert Report
expressly and repeatedly references the EAM and the factors the USEPA considered in driving
its ordered remedial action. (Motion, Exhibit A, 81, 1.2,1.4.2,2.1.1,3.2.1.4,3.2.1.6, 3.2.1.6.2,
3.2.1.8.) Further, Mr. Dorgan testified that “when you review the Enforcement Action
Memorandum itself that laid out the original basis of the work that ultimately was represented in
the remedial action work plan you could see that the record was pointing towards the occurrence
of visual ACM as being one of the primary drivers that led all of the subsequent effort that took
place.” (Transcript of June 12, 2019 Deposition of Douglas Dorgan (“Dorgan Il Dep.”), attached
hereto as Exhibit 4, pp. 83:23-84:16.) That IDOT disagrees with Mr. Dorgan’s read and
interpretation of the EAM does not present any basis to preclude Mr. Dorgan from offering his
opinions at hearing.

It was actually IDOT’s expert, not Mr. Dorgan, who “cherry-picked” facts he believes are
helpful to IDOT’s position. (See Dorgan Il Dep., p. 82:10-23 (“. . . [Mr. Gobelman] has also
limited the scope of cleanup very narrowly in his interpretation of the Pollution Control Board
ruling; and, also, as I’ve noted in my report, failed to consider how certain activities that took
place were being driven by the conditions that were identified within the IDOT area of

responsibilities.”).)
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IDOT also oddly takes issue with Mr. Dorgan’s Figure 2 of his Expert Report, claiming
that it exemplifies cherry picking. However, the Figure clearly explains what it represents—the
location of visual ACM based upon the record. (See Motion, Exhibit A, Figure 2, orange dots.)
It is not as if Mr. Dorgan claimed that the Figure showed all ACM, but elected to just show the
visual ACM. The relevance of IDOT’s citations (see Motion, § I11.D, p. 8) to Mr. Gobelman’s
Demonstrative Exhibit 202 and Exhibit 63-83 to support the cherry picking point are unclear.
These exhibits were not depicting solely visual ACM. For example, the red circles of Exhibit
202 show where ACM was detected through any method, visual or non-visual (laboratory
testing).

The header of Section I11.D to IDOT’s Motion also claims that Mr. Dorgan’s opinions are
“speculative,” though IDOT makes no such argument in the body of its brief. Mr. Dorgan’s
opinions, included his opinion relating to the Site 3 capping costs attributable to IDOT, are not
speculative. Rather, they are rooted firmly in the evidence and documentary record of this case.
(See Motion, Exhibit A, 8 1.2; Dorgan | Dep., pp. 36:3-20, 38:6-39:24, 41:7-42:23, 44:4-45:7,
74:23-80:13 (identifying documents, deposition transcripts, and witness interviews upon which
he relied), 82:3-17 (same), 86:5-87:7 (same).)

An expert’s opinions are not based on speculation, guess, or conjecture, when they are
based upon documentary evidence. See Davis v. Material Handling Assocs., Inc., 401 Ill. App.
3d 1085, 1094-1095 (lll. App. Ct. 2010) (finding that expert’s opinions were not based on
speculation, guess, or conjecture where they were based upon a number of documents); In re
Saline Branch Drainage Dist., 19 Ill. App. 3d 125, 132 (lll. App. Ct. 1974) (holding that “[t]here
was ample data presented at the proceedings which would permit of the opinion testimony” and

that “[t]he rule is clear that one test of admissibility of an opinion of an expert witness is whether

10
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there is sufficient evidence in the record to act as a foundation of the expert’s opinion”). As the
Hearing Officer found with respect to Mr. Dorgan’s opinions in the first phase of this case, “Mr.
Dorgan’s opinions are not impermissibly speculative but based on documentary evidence in the
record including a number of reports and manuals.” (April 26, 2016 Hearing Officer Order, p.
3.) There is again ample evidence in the record to act as a foundation for Mr. Dorgan’s opinions
in his Expert Reports. (Motion, Exhibit A, § 1.2; Dorgan | Dep., pp. 36:3-20, 38:6-39:24, 41:7-
42:23, 44:4-45:7, 74:23-80:13 (identifying documents, deposition transcripts, and witness
interviews upon which he relied), 82:3-17 (same), 86:5-87:7 (same).)

Finally, IDOT fails to identify one statement made by Mr. Dorgan that is contradicted by
the record. To the contrary, Mr. Dorgan’s opinions are based on the evidence in this case and
are not contradicted by it. Accordingly, Mr. Dorgan’s opinions in Section 3.2.1.8.1 of his Expert
Report—on the share of JM’s costs for capping on Site 3 attributable to IDOT—are not cherry-
picked or speculative, and should be admissible and heard at hearing. IDOT’s Motion should be
denied.

4. Mr. Dorgan’s Opinions Do Not Re-Litigate The Board’s Liability Determination.

IDOT’s contention that Mr. Dorgan’s opinions “conflict[] with” the Board’s Interim
Opinion (Motion, § I11.E) rests upon IDOT’s fundamental misunderstanding of the role of expert
reports, the Board’s Interim Opinion, and the scope and nature of Mr. Dorgan’s opinions. The
Board’s Interim Opinion left open for further hearing the questions of what cleanup work was
performed in the portions of the Sites where the Board found IDOT liable and what share of
JM’s costs for cleanup work is attributable to IDOT. (Interim Opinion, p. 22.) The Board
explicitly found that it is “appropriate that a party recover the cost of performing cleanup as a

result of another party’s violations” of the Act. (Id., p. 21 (emphasis added).) This necessarily

11
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required Mr. Dorgan to determine what cleanup work JM was required to perform as a result of
IDOT’s violations of the Act.

Consistent with the Board’s direction, Mr. Dorgan looked at the cleanup costs that
resulted from IDOT’s violations, which included reviewing the amount of ACM connected with
a given boring through documentary, photographic and observational evidence, as well as
reviewing the language in the EAM. This does not mean, however, that Mr. Dorgan is
“seek[ing] to undo a substantial part of the Board’s prior work by arriving at cost attributions that
go well beyond the Board’s liability findings against IDOT in the Interim Opinion” as IDOT
contends. (Motion, § IILE, pp. 9-10.) Unlike Mr. Dorgan, Mr. Gobelman did not take into
consideration the amount of ACM connected to each boring, the scope of the work tied to the
ACM in each boring, or whether the ACM in each boring was or was not driving particular work
or the overall remedy—all facts that bear on “what cleanup work was performed in the portions
of the Sites where the Board found IDOT liable” as well as the costs “attributable to IDOT.”
(Dorgan Expert Rebuttal Report, attached hereto as Exhibit 5, § 2.1, p. 2 (“The Gobelman
Report fails to consider why certain cleanup activities were required and how the scope of the
cleanup was driven by the Site conditions and where visible ACM was observed during earlier
investigation activities.”).) That Mr. Gobelman took a different approach—focusing very
narrowly on surficial geography and the costs associated with work only immediately
surrounding a boring attributed to IDOT (rather than the grid area that the boring represents)—
does not warrant exclusion of Mr. Dorgan’s opinions.

IDOT’s Motion principally takes issue with Mr. Dorgan’s opinions relating to three areas
of the Sites: (1) Parcel No. 0393; (2) borings 5S-8S of Site 6; and (3) the North Shore Gas Line

on Site 3. None of IDOT’s differences of opinion, however, have any merit. Contrary to

12



Electronic Filing: Received, Clerk's Office 10/04/2019

IDOT’s assertion, JM is not trying to re-litigate liability. That IDOT and Mr. Gobelman may
disagree with Mr. Dorgan’s opinions has no impact on their admissibility. Therefore, the
Hearing Officer should allow Mr. Dorgan to present his full opinions at the second hearing in
this case for the Board’s consideration. The Board can then weigh the impact Mr. Dorgan’s
opinions have on the Board’s Interim Opinion and ultimately, the Board’s final order. Striking
or excluding Mr. Dorgan’s opinions at this stage is unwarranted.

A. IDOT’s discussion of Parcel No. 0393 has no place in a motion in limine.

IDOT’s Motion does not present a valid legal basis to exclude Mr. Dorgan’s opinions on
costs attributable to IDOT for the City of Waukegan Water Line on Parcel No. 0393. IDOT’s
argument is really just a disagreement on how to interpret the Board’s Interim Opinion as to
Parcel No. 0393. Mr. Gobelman believes that IDOT is only liable for the open dumping of ACM
in certain boring locations within Parcel No. 0393. (Motion, p. 10 (disputing that IDOT is liable
for costs associated with Waukegan Water Line on Parcel No. 0393).) Mr. Dorgan disagrees.
(Dorgan Expert Rebuttal Report, § 2.4, pp. 8-9.)

Indeed, the Board actually found that “IDOT’s interest in Parcel 0393” — not merely
IDOT’s interest in certain borings within Parcel No. 0393 — “gave and continues to give [IDOT]
control over open dumping on that property,” not merely control over dumping in certain boring
locations on that property. (Interim Opinion, p. 12.) *“By continuing to control the portion of
Parcel No. 0393 falling within Site 3,” the Board found, “IDOT continues to allow ACM waste
in that soil.” (Id., p. 13.)

To the extent JM’s remediation of the City of Waukegan Water line was a result of
IDOT’s open dumping in or control of Parcel No. 0393, the share of JM’s costs attributable to

IDOT fairly remains at issue in this case. These are questions for the Board and not ones to be

13
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determined through a motion in limine. As a result, Mr. Dorgan’s opinions involving Parcel No.
0393 and the Waukegan Water Line should not be stricken.

B. Mr. Dorgan’s opinions on the extent of IDOT’s liability for Site 6 have a
sufficient factual basis and are not cumulative of evidence in the record.

IDOT also incorrectly contends that Mr. Dorgan “seeks to double the extent of IDOT’s
liability for Site 6” from the soil borings specifically referenced in the Board’s Interim Opinion
(1S-4S) “including borings 5S through 8S, as well” and that Mr. Dorgan’s opinions on those
areas should be barred as “lacking factual specificity.” (Motion, § IIl.LE, p. 10.) IDOT, however,
fails to identify what specificity is purportedly lacking. This is because Mr. Dorgan’s Expert
Reports do present detailed explanations and support for the findings therein that “the Board
found IDOT liable for contamination on the South Side of Site 6 in the areas of 1S to 4S because
IDOT buried ACM waste in these while reconstructing Greenwood Avenue during the Amstutz
Project” (see e.g., Motion, Exhibit A, 8 3.1.1.2) and, as a result, JM was required to perform
extensive remediation work in the areas of 5S to 8S:

[M]ost of the visual ACM was encountered within IDOT’s Area[s] of [L]iability

(see Figure 2 of the Dorgan Expert Report). As a result of the buried visual

ACM, USEPA required creation of a 25-foot clean corridor for all buried utilities

on the Sites, “regardless of whether impacts from ACM were noted in the

overlying soil during the assessment.” Since IDOT is responsible for most of the

visual ACM found on the relevant areas of the Sites, IDOT’s unlawful disposal of

ACM was the primary driver of the work required by USEPA in these areas,

especially with respect to the clean corridors. For example, at the time the EAM

was issued, no ACM had been found east of soil sample location 8S.

Nonetheless, USEPA required a clean corridor for the entire NSG line from 4S

and moving east regardless that ACM had not been found east of 8S.

(Dorgan Expert Rebuttal Report, § 2.5.2 (footnotes omitted).)

As Mr. Peterson [the engineering overseeing the work] indicted and as the

construction photographs demonstrate, Campanella excavated to at least elevation

584 at areas 1S -8S and found a consistent seam of the same type of AMC material

... along this entire transect from the ground surface to a depth of approximately
3 to 5 feet below the ground surface.
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(Dorgan Expert Rebuttal Report, § 3.1.1.2, pp. 13-14 (emphasis added).) In other words, JM
incurred costs in performing cleanup around Site 6 areas 5S to 8S as a result of IDOT’s
violations of the Act—the exact issue on which the Board wants additional evidence. (Interim
Opinion, p. 21.) More specifically, the ACM the Board found that IDOT buried not only drove
the remedy, but also was physically tied to ACM 5S-8S underneath the ground, leading Mr.
Dorgan to opine that the costs associated with the 5S-8S area are attributable to IDOT.? Because
this is an issue on which the Board called for additional evidence [the scope of cleanup work
performed in the portions of the Site where IDOT was found liable], it would be improper to
preclude Mr. Dorgan from offering testimony at hearing on these opinions. This is particularly
so where Mr. Dorgan merely seeks to bolster his opinions on damages, not re-litigate IDOT’s
liability, regarding the North Shore Gas Line with information an expert would reasonably rely
upon in rendering an opinion—the visual observations of the person overseeing the remediation,
photographs taken during the remedial work and reports in the record. (Motion, Exhibit A, 8
3.1.1.2.) Mr. Dorgan’s opinions about the attribution to IDOT of the costs JM incurred to
remediate the North Shore Gas line on Site 6 should be fairly at issue for the second hearing in
this case.

Mr. Dorgan’s opinions on IDOT’s liability at Site 6 areas 5S-8S also cannot be
considered cumulative® given that they are based, in part, on evidence not available at the time of
the first Hearing in this matter (May and June 2016). It was only during excavation work on Site
6, which occurred after the first hearing in this case, that it was discovered that the ACM found

buried at areas 1S-4S (where the Board explicitly found IDOT liable) was part of a consistent

2 Mr. Dorgan also explains how the existing record is consistent with his opinion. (Dorgan Expert Rebuttal Report,
§3.1.1.2,p. 14 and n.14.)

® The only case that IDOT cites in making its argument that Mr. Dorgan’s opinions should be excluded as
“cumulative” (Motion, p. 11) actually allows the introduction of multiple experts discussing the same issue. Cetera
v. DiFillipo, 404 IIl. App. 3d 20, 45 (Ill. App. Ct. 2010).
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seam of ACM materials found extending to areas 5S through 8S and thus required remediation
owing to IDOT’s violations of the Act:

[E]verything that was known at the time of the last hearing was based upon soil

borings, and soil borings is like taking one hole and putting it at that end of the

conference room and trying to assume what’s at this end of the conference room.

What we have now is actual physical evidence based upon the materials that were

removed and the conditions showed a se[a]m of asbestos-containing material that

extended from the western edge of Site 6 all the way through and past 8S in a

consistent se[a]m that ran at relatively consistent depths over the course of that

cross section. That was information that was not available when my report was

written previously . . . A test pit and an excavation are not one in the same.

(Dorgan | Dep., pp. 152:10-155:11, 156:2-7, 156:23-157:2; Motion, Exhibit A, § 3.1.1.2.)

The Board has previously allowed a party to introduce new facts at a remedy hearing that
were not available before the Board’s issuance of an interim opinion. See e.g., Roti et al. v. LTD
Commodities, PCB 99-19, 2004 WL 285598, *5 (Feb. 5, 2004). Mr. Dorgan’s opinions on the
cleanup work required at borings 5S-8S go directly to “what cleanup work was performed in the
portions of the Sites where the Board found IDOT liable” and what costs were required as a
result of IDOT’s violations, points that Mr. Gobelman ignores.

C. Mr. Dorgan’s opinions on the extent of IDOT’s liability for the North Shore

Gas Line on Site 3 are misinterpreted by IDOT and are rooted in sound
methodology.

Finally, IDOT argues that Mr. Dorgan was wrong to attribute 100 percent of the Site 3
North Shore Gas costs to IDOT “because a portion of the gas line runs through Parcel 0393.”
(Motion, 8 IILLE, p. 11.) IDOT misstates Mr. Dorgan’s opinion. Mr. Dorgan does not attribute

these costs to IDOT solely because a portion of the line runs through Parcel No. 0393.% Rather,

he opines that the lines run through a portion of Parcel No. 0393 as well as B3-15 and B3-50,

* Even Mr. Gobelman opines that IDOT is responsible for all Site 3 North Shore Gas costs that are associated with
Parcel No. 0393. (See Gobelman Rebuttal Report, Figure 5; Figure 5 to “Expert Rebuttal Supplemental Report of
Steven Gobelman on Damages Attributable to IDOT Based on IPCB Order of December 15, 2016,” dated
November 7, 2018, attached hereto as Exhibit 6.)
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which are areas the Board found IDOT liable. (Motion, Exhibit A, § 3.2.1.6.1.) Further, Mr.
Dorgan reasons that “[s]ince the only ACM found along the NSG line on Site 3 was attributed to
IDOT by the Board, Mr. Gobelman should have included all of the costs associated with work on
the NSG line on Site 3 to IDOT.” (Dorgan Expert Rebuttal Report, 8 2.4.2, p. 9.) IDOT also
overlooks Mr. Dorgan’s point that the EAM required clean corridors for entire utility lines, even
if ACM was not found above a certain point along the line. (Motion, Exhibit A, n.18.) Using
this reasoning, because the only ACM found along the North Shore Gas line on Site 3 was in
borings attributed to IDOT, the ACM in those borings, which were due to IDOT’s violations of
the Act, caused JM to incur all the costs associated with creating a clean corridor for the North
Shore Gas line on Site 3.

Like his others, Mr. Dorgan’s opinions on the costs attributable to IDOT for the Site 3
North Shore Gas work is consistent with his methodology discussed above. Just because IDOT’s
expert employs a different methodology wholesale exclusion of Mr. Dorgan’s opinions is not
justified. It would be improper to preclude Mr. Dorgan from offering his opinions at hearing.
IDOT’s Motion should be denied.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, JM requests that the Board deny Respondent IDOT’s

Motion in Limine to Strike the Opinions of Douglas G. Dorgan, Jr.

Dated: October 4, 2019 Respectfully submitted,
BRYAN CAVE LEIGHTON PAISNER LLP

Attorneys for Complainant Johns Manville

By: /s/ Lauren J. Caisman
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I, the undersigned, certify that on October 4, 2019, | caused to be served a true and
correct copy of Complainant’s Response to Respondent’s Motion in Limine to Strike the
Opinions of Douglas G. Dorgan, Jr. upon all parties listed on the Service List by sending the
documents via e-mail to all persons listed on the Service List, addressed to each person’s e-mail

address.

/s/ Lauren J. Caisman
Lauren J. Caisman
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Illinois Department of Transportation
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E-mail: Matthew.Dougherty@illinois.gov

Ellen O’Laughlin

Office of Illinois Attorney General

69 West Washington Street, Suite 1800
Chicago, IL 60602

E-mail: eolaughlin@atg.state.il.us

Illinois Pollution Control Board
Brad Halloran, Hearing Officer
James R. Thompson Center

100 W. Randolph, Suite 11-500
Chicago, IL 60601

E-mail: Brad.Halloran@illinois.gov

Illinois Pollution Control Board
Don Brown, Clerk of the Board
James R. Thompson Center
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BEFORE THE ILLINOIS POLLUTION CONTROL BOARD

JOHNS MANVILLE, a
Delaware corporation,

Complainant,
PCB No. 14-3
VS. (Citizen Suit)
ILLINOIS DEPARTMENT OF
TRANSPORTATION,

o/ o/ o/ o/ o/ o/ o/ o/ o/ o/

Respondent.

This 1s the deposition of DOUGLAS G.
DORGAN, JR., called by the Defendant for
examination, taken pursuant to the provisions
of the Code of Civil Procedure and the Rules of
the Supreme Court of the State of lllinois
pertaining to the taking of depositions for the
purpose of discovery, taken before PEGGY A.
ANDERSON, a Certified Shorthand Reporter of the
State of Illinois, at 69 West Washington Street,
18th Floor, Chicago, lllinois, on July 31,
2018, at 9:30 a.m.

TOOMEY REPORTING
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APPEARANCES:

THE LAW OFFICES OF:
BRYAN CAVE LEIGHTON PAISNER, LLP
BY: MS. SUSAN BRICE
MS. LAUREN J. CAISMAN
161 North Clark Street
Suite 4300
Chicago, Il1linois 60601
(312) 602-5124
susan.brice@bclplaw.com
lauren.caisman@bclplaw.com

Appeared on behalf of the
Complainant;

THE LAW OFFICES OF:
THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
STATE OF ILLINOIS

BY: MR. EVAN J. McGINLEY
MS. ELLEN F. OTLAUGHLIN
69 West Washington Street
Suite 1800
Chicago, Il1linois 60602
(312) 814-3153
emcginley@atg.state.il_us
eolaughlin@atg.state.il.us
Appeared on behalf of the
Respondent.
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DOUGLAS DORGAN, JR.

July 31, 2018

WITNESS

I ND E X

DOUGLAS G. DORGAN, JR.

EXAMINATION BY
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(WHEREUPON, the witnhess
was first duly sworn.)
WHEREUPON:
DOUGLAS G. DORGAN, JR.,
called as a witness herein, having been first
dully sworn, was examined and testified as

follows:
EXAMINATTION
BY MR. McGINLEY:
Q Mr. Dorgan, can you state and spell

your full name for the record, please.

A Douglas G. Dorgan, D-o-r-g-a-n, Jr.

Q Mr. Dorgan, I know that we"ve done
depositions before, but I"m just going to --
For the sake of making sure we are all
operating on the same page, just a few brief
guidelines, 1f you will.

Obviously, the court reporter is
here. She"s writing down everything that we
say. It helps the record 1T you let me ask the
questions before you answer. | will let you
answer before | ask you another question. That
way, we are not talking over each other.

Also, 1In answering the question,

TOOMEY REPORTING
312-853-0648
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please don"t do that natural impulse of shaking
your head yes or no. 1It"s not going to make
for a good record.

Is there any reason why you cannot
give full and complete testimony today?

A No.

Q Okay. Not under the influence of any
medication, not feeling sick or anything like
that?

A No.

MR. McGINLEY: [I"m going to mark this

as Exhibit 1.

(WHEREUPON, Dorgan Exhibit
No. 1 was marked for
identification.)

BY MR. McGINLEY:

Q Mr. Dorgan, the court reporter has
just handed you Exhibit 1 to your deposition.
This 1s the Amended Notice of Expert
Deposition. 1 take it you have seen this
Exhibit 1 before?

A I have.

Q And when did you -- When did you -- 1
will stipulate for the record that this is an

TOOMEY REPORTING
312-853-0648
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Amended Notice of Expert Deposition. There was
an earlier version of this notice that was sent
to you.

Did you see the earlier version or
just the amended notice?

A I believe I saw both.

Q You saw both, okay. And when did you
first see the notice?

A I want to say i1t was late June.

Q In preparing for your deposition
today, tell me everything that you did to get
yourself ready.

A Well, I first responded to the
document request that was referenced in the
notice, pulled those together with the
assistance of one of my admin support staff iIn
our office and transmitted that information to
Bryan Cave.

Then 1 began going through my
original document just to refresh myself on i1ts
content and i1ts layout. | certainly reviewed a
few of the relevant figures and historic
documents that had been material to the case at
large.

TOOMEY REPORTING
312-853-0648
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I reviewed several of the depositions
from earlier testimony on the part of other
witnesses i1In the case, and | met briefly with
Susan in order to discuss logistics and
planning for today and what the schedule was
going to look like.

Q And 1 believe at this outset, you
were saying the original -- Did you say
"original document"? Is that the term you were
using?

A I was referring to my most recent
expert report.

Q Expert report. That"s right. That"s
the June 13, 2018 report, correct?

A That"s correct.

Q And the depositions that you
reviewed, what deposition transcripts; do you
recall?

A I reviewed deposition transcripts for
Dave Peterson, Tat Ebihara, Scott Myers and
Mr. Manikas. His first name escapes me right
at the moment.

Q Any other depositions besides that?

A I had seen other depositions that I

TOOMEY REPORTING
312-853-0648
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briefly reviewed when they were originally
transmitted to me, but I didn"t spend any
significant time with them.

Q And I think you, 1f I recall
correctly, you said you had reviewed some of
the other documents besides the transcript and
your report. What documents --

A I would have been referring to the
figures 1n the report itself.

Q So the deposition transcripts and the
report and the attached exhibits to the report.
Anything besides that?

A Not that I recall.

Q You met with Ms. Brice how many
times?
A Twice.

Q And what was the first time that you
met with her?

A Last Thursday or Friday.

Q About how long did that meeting last?
A About an hour.
Q What did you talk about?

A We talked about the deposition and
the materials that 1 would bring with me to the

TOOMEY REPORTING
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deposition and the logistics for how the
deposition was likely to work. We talked a
little bit about scheduling given my travel
plans for today.

Q And what are your travel plans for
today?

A I jJust have a flight later this
afternoon.

Q And what documents did you bring with
you today?

A Just a copy of my report.

Q Okay .

A And then 1 also brought a copy of
the -- 1 believe i1t was provided i1n a
supplemental disclosure yesterday, which were
the -- one of the tables In my report that
provided comments that had been included,
imbedded into the electronic version of the
documents.

Q That version, that"s Exhibit F to
your report, correct?

A Correct.

Q And so 1T I understand what you just
said correctly, the difference between the

TOOMEY REPORTING
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Exhibit F that was provided to us yesterday
versus what®"s 1n the report, is that the
Exhibit F that was provided to us yesterday has
some additional comments In i1t not included in
your final version of the report; i1s that
right?

A That"s correct.

Q So during the hour that you spoke
with Ms. Brice last Thursday or Friday, what
else did you talk about?

A We talked about some of the past
depositions that had taken place, and she just
suggested again that 1 prepare by reviewing the
report and doing a little homework over the
weekend.

Q What homework did you do over the

weekend?
A Read the report and read some of the
depositions.

Q Anything else that you talked about
last Thursday or Friday with Ms. Brice?

A No.

Q You said you met with her a second
time. 1Is 1t fair to say that the second time

TOOMEY REPORTING
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was today?

A Yes, just before walking over here.

Q About how long did that meeting last?

A About ten minutes.

Q What did you discuss during that
ten-minute period of time?

A Just confirmed what 1t was that 1 had
that 1 was bringing and where we were going and
what time, and I, again, 1 reiterated the
travel schedule, that I have to make sure
everything fit together, and i1t sounds like it
does.

Q What files do you keep related to
your work on this matter?

A I keep copies of any of the documents
that have been transmitted to me. | keep
copies of any of my final reports and final
figures. | keep copies of our invoices that
are i1ssued as part of the project. 1 have
copies of the depositions that have been
provided to me, the legal notices that have
been provided to me. 1 have, obviously, copies
from the previous hearing, that continue to be
maintained, and certainly, iIn some instances, |

TOOMEY REPORTING
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was referring back to those as part of the
development of my more recent report.

Q When you say copies of the previous
hearing, can you be a little bit more specific?
A My expert reports, the rebuttal
reports, the transcripts from the hearing, the
exhibits that were used iIn the hearing, things

of that nature.

Q In the course of developing your
report for this matter, and we can just -- For
the sake of today®"s proceedings, why don®"t we
just refer to it as your June 2018 report -- or
we will say "current report,”™ how about that?

A That works for me.

Q So for purposes of preparing your
current report, you were looking back at your
earlier versions of the reports, too?

A That"s correct.

Q Who i1s your client In this matter?

A I work directly with Susan Brice. My
invoices are paid by Johns Manville.

Q So 1s Ms. Brice -- 1 don"t know Ms. Brice.
I can"t remember the current name of the firm,

formerly named Bryan Cave. 1Is that your

TOOMEY REPORTING
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client, Bryan Cave?
A She"s acting as my attorney. My
invoices are paid by Johns Manville.
MS. BRICE: Objection, calls for a
legal conclusion. Honestly, like, who his
client i1s i1s really a legal question.
BY MR. McGINLEY:

Q Well, you work for Ms. Brice?

A Yes.

MS. BRICE: Same objection.

BY MR. McGINLEY:

Q Is that a yes, sir?

A Yes.

Q You do work for Ms. Brice. Okay.
And, 1In fact, the -- What is the agreement that
you have -- i1s there —- I"m sorry.

Is there an agreement that you have

for the work that you"re doing here?

A No.

Q There 1s no agreement?

A No.

Q Is there a letter agreement that you

entered iInto probably back i1n 2015 for your
work initially in this case?

TOOMEY REPORTING
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A Yes. There is.

Q Does that letter agreement still
govern what you®"re doing iIn this matter?

A It"s been my understanding that it
would.

MR. McGINLEY: This is a prior
exhibit. |If you could just -- You can
cover that, if you would like. I will mark
this as Exhibit 2.

(WHEREUPON, Dorgan Exhibit
No. 2 was marked for
identification.)

BY MR. McGINLEY:

Q Sir, the document that 1"ve handed to
you, Exhibit 2, is the February 8, 2015 letter.
I will represent to you that it is from
Katherine Hanna to yourself. |1 take i1t you are
familiar with this?

A I am.

Q Is this the agreement -- And you have
signed 1t on the back. That would be the third
page of this document, correct?

A Yes.

Q So 1s this -- This continues to be

TOOMEY REPORTING
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the agreement under which you"re doing work on
this matter for Bryan Cave for Ms. Brice?

A It would be my opinion this would
still cover the work that we"re doing.

Q Fine. What 1s your -- What"s your
purpose and function in this case”?

A I have been asked to serve as an
expert to opine on matters earlier regarding
nature and extent and causation of the
contamination; and after the initial hearing, |
was then retained again to evaluate the costs
that were i1ncurred In an effort to align the
costs attributable to IDOT that were deemed to
be their responsibility by the 1llinois
Pollution Control Board.

Q So you were trying to align the costs
of work incurred by Johns Manville with the
liability, 1f you will, that had been assessed
by the Pollution Control Board back in 2016; 1s
that right?

A That"s correct.

Q Pursuant to their December 2016
interim order and opinion?

A That"s correct.

TOOMEY REPORTING
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Q And you"re being paid by Johns
Manville In this matter, correct?

A That"s correct.

Q Is 1t possible in the -- 1T you look
at Page 2 of this letter agreement, this would
be the third paragraph from the bottom. Just
let me know when you have that in front of you.

So 1T you count up three paragraphs
from the signature line, this 1s the paragraph
starting ""Consultant shall send its bills;" do
you see that?

A Uh-huh.

Q It says, "Consultant shall send its
bills to JM with a copy to Bryan Cave. JM or
iIts Insurance carrier shall be solely
responsible for payment, and payments of all
invoices shall be made within 45 days of
receipt by JIM."

My question to you, sir, is: Do you
know whether Weaver Consultants Group, who you
work for, have they been paid by Johns Manville
or by Johns Manville®"s iInsurance carrier?

A I don"t know the answer to that
question.

TOOMEY REPORTING
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Q Who would know 1f you needed to find
out?

A I"m not sure.

Q Would there be somebody -- You have,
I assume, some sort of accounting or group
that"s responsible for tracking payment for
work?

A I could look to see the form of the
check that we received to pay our bill. That
would be something 1 could look Into 1f 1t were
necessary.

Q Do you typically see or get carbon
copied on payments when they come 1n for work
that you have done?

A No.

Q Do you know from the very first
period when you started working for Bryan Cave
back 1n 2015 -- And you didn"t work for Bryan
Cave before on the Johns Manville matter before
February of 2015; i1s that right?

A That sounds like the approximate
correct date; but, yes, before this matter, I
had not worked on 1t.

MS. BRICE: I would like to state an
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objection. You know, 1 think the document
speaks for i1tself, and whether or not the
document legally applies currently to his
current testimony and what he®"s doing now
IS a question of law.

He can testify what he iInterprets
it to mean as he 1s, but I"m not -- You
know, we"re not conceding that this is the
governing document at this point in time or
that he i1s a client of Bryan Cave -- Bryan
Cave i1s his client. Sorry.

MR. McGINLEY: You"re not conceding
that. Thank you.
BY MR. McGINLEY:

Q Is there a different letter agreement
that"s come into play since this one from 2015
that governs your work in this Johns Manville
matter for Bryan Cave?

A No, not that I"m aware of.

Q And you would -- 1 would assume you
woulld be aware if there was some sort of
agreement that superceded this February 2015
letter from Bryan Cave to yourself, correct?

A Yes.
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Q I mean, you would be aware of the
terms under which you"re performing this work,
correct?

A Yes.

Q So 1t"s safe to say then that this
Exhibit 2, the February 2015 letter, continues
to govern your work today?

MS. BRICE: Objection, calls for a
legal conclusion. He i1s not a lawyer.

BY MR. McGINLEY:

Q Mr. Dorgan, you understand that this
letter continues to be the operative agreement
between yourself and Bryan Cave?

MS. BRICE: Same objection. It"s a
consulting expert agreement, not a
testifying expert agreement.

BY MR. McGINLEY:

Q Can you answer my question, sir?

A It would be my understanding this
agreement applies to the work we have been
doing.

Q Okay. Thank you. What do you see as
your duty as a testifying expert, and that"s --
I mean, you recognize that you"re a testifying
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expert at this point, right?

A Correct.

Q What do you understand your duty as a
testifying expert to be with respect to Bryan
Cave?

A I"m not sure I understand the
question.

Q Okay. So you"ve agreed to be --
serve as an expert witness for Bryan Cave,
correct?

MS. BRICE: Objection, calls for a
legal conclusion.

BY MR. McGINLEY:

Q You can answer the question to the
extent that you understand.

MS. BRICE: He"s agreed to serve as
an expert witness. The case involves Johns
Manville. 1t"s not a case about Bryan
Cave.

BY MR. McGINLEY:

Q You understand -- who i1s your -- Your
client i1s Bryan Cave, correct?

MS. BRICE: Objection, calls for a
legal conclusion.
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BY THE WITNESS:

A Client i1s Bryan Cave in that Bryan
Cave 1s who -- my principal point of contact.
I have had contacts with Johns Manville iIn the
course of my scope of work for my recently
produced report and as | had 1n earlier phases
of the project, but 1 have worked directly iIn
the preparation of the report with Susan with
guidance coming from the Johns Manville
personnel.

BY MR. McGINLEY:

Q So what 1s your -- What do you
understand your role to be as an expert witness
In this case?

A I was tasked with evaluating the
costs that were i1ncurred for the cleanup that
has happened at Site 3 and Site 6 under the
order that was signed by USEPA and the various
parties and to tabulate the costs and then
attempt to allocate those costs which would be
attributable to IDOT"s actions as laid out iIn
the Pollution Control Board ruling.

Q This isn"t the first Instance in
which you have ever served as an expert
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witness, correct?
A That"s correct.
Q How many times in the past have you

been an expert witness?

A About five times.

Q Five times. And five times for
somebody other than Bryan Cave, correct?

A That"s correct.

Q So as an expert witness, both
currently and 1n the past, what do you think --
what do you understand your responsibility to
be as an expert witness?

A My responsibility 1s to, as fairly
and accurately as possible, evaluate the costs
that were i1ncurred. As my report explains, |
evaluated whether those costs were reasonable.
I then attempted to allocate the costs that
were clearly attributable to the areas of
IDOT"s responsibility based upon the Board
ruling and those areas that weren"t.

I made a number of technical
evaluations 1In order to come up with those
allocations, all of which have been referenced
In my report and then the supporting
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documentation.

Q Do you see i1t as your role as an
expert witness to be an advocate on behalf of
the party that"s retained you for your
services?

A It"s my role as an expert and as a
professional to be fair and accurate in the
work that I do, and that"s how I believe I
approached my engagement.

Q Yes or no, do you see it your duty to
be an advocate --

MS. BRICE: No. Objection, asked and
answered. It"s not a yes-or-no guestion.
BY MR. McGINLEY:

Q Mr. Dorgan, do you see 1t as your
duty as an expert witness to be an advocate for
your client, yes or no?

MS. BRICE: Objection, asked and
answered.
BY MR. McGINLEY:

Q You can answer the question, sir,
please.

MS. BRICE: You can answer i1t the
same way as you did last time.
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BY THE WITNESS:
A No.
BY MR. McGINLEY:

Q No, You don"t believe 1t"s your duty
to be an advocate?

A I have a duty to the protection of
human health of the environment, which 1s how I
approach all of my engagements.

Q Are you interested i1n seeing Johns
Manville obtain as much money as possible --
Johns Manville obtain as much money from IDOT
as possible?

A No.

MS. BRICE: Objection, argumentative.
BY MR. McGINLEY:

Q The process that you"re describing
here as an expert witness to develop a cost
attribution model -- Would that be a fair way
to describe 1t?

A Yes.

Q Okay. Could we describe things going
forward as your role, at least iIn part, was to
develop a cost attribution model?

A I would stipulate to that.
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Q Would you characterize the task of
developing a cost attribution model as a
subjective exercise or an objective exercise?

A Objective.

Q And why 1s 1t objective?

A Because you"re working with facts.
You"re working with data. You"re working with
geographic information. You"re working with
observations and information that was collected
during the implementation of the work in
addition to many other variables, and you"re
weighing all of those and making judgments in
terms of how they line up and apply to the
principal focus of your model undertaking.

Q When you"re making judgments, 1 mean,
Isn"t there a degree of subjectivity involved
in making judgments?

A There can be.

Q So 1s i1t possible that you were
making subjective judgments in the course of
developing your cost attribution model?

A It"s possible.

Q You"re licensed as a licensed
professional geologist both In this state and
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Indiana, right?
A That®"s correct.
Q Any other states?
A NoO.
Q For some professions, for instance,

for attorneys, there are rules of ethical
conduct that guide how we are supposed to do
our work.

Are there similar rules that pertain
to being a licensed professional geologist?

A Yes. There are.

Q And what do those -- What do those
rules require of you as a professional
geologist, particularly i1f you"re taking on an
assignment like this, being an expert witness?

A I certainly don"t remember by heart
the requirements that are laid out iIn the
licensing agreements, but 1 know that, in
general, as 1"ve said previously, we have a
duty as professional licensed -- as licensed
professionals to be protective of human health
and the environment, and that Is who our
primary responsibility to i1s; and so that when
we look at these types of matters, it is with
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the understanding that our work should be
framed around those goals and not any others.

Q As an expert or opinion witness, do
you believe i1t"s your duty to reach your
opinions independent of bias?

A Could you restate the question?

Q Sure. Let me just ask a slightly
different question. You"re familiar with the
term bias, correct?

A Certainly.

Q What"s your understanding of the
term?

A Bias 1s when you have some
preconceived notion that ends up influencing
the way 1n which you might evaluate a certain
situation.

Q Is 1t possible for a licensed
professional geologist to be biased in the
conduct of their work?

A It"s possible.

Q Yes or no, would you agree that bias
could be an issue iIn attempting to reach an
explanation for why something may have
occurred?
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A Possible.

Q And yes or no, would you agree that
the work you did in developing the opinions in
this matter and that you"re offering in your
current report could potentially be the product
of bias?

A I do not believe so.

Q And why do you say that, that you
don"t think that that could be the product of
bras?

A Because | believe | looked at the
information that I was provided very
objectively, and 1 tried to faithfully evaluate
the information within the context of the
Pollution Control Board ruling and the
information that I had at my disposal and
render an opinion that was fair and reasonable.

Q So what steps did you take to avoid
the i1ntroduction of bias into your work, which
iIs culminating In your current report?

A That would seem to require me to
prove a negative, which I"m not sure that"s
what 1 want to do.

Q I"m just asking you -- So how did
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you -- When you went into this assignment, you
wanted to produce a report that would withstand
scrutiny; fair to say?

A Yes.

Q And part of withstanding scrutiny, |
would suppose, 1s to make sure that everything
that you"re doing in the course of producing
that report i1s, shall we say, unimpeachable as
possible; 1s that a fair way to approach how
you took on this assignment?

A Yes.
Q So what efforts did you take to
ensure that bias -- some bias on your part

didn"t come iInto the process of producing a
defensible current report?
MS. BRICE: Objection, asked and
answered, argumentative.
BY MR. McGINLEY:

Q Please.

A I would say that, as | mentioned
earlier, | evaluated all the data that was
available to me at my disposal.

I considered always in the background
the Pollution Control Board ruling and where
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they came 1In iIn terms of causality and
responsibility and attempted to line up the
work that had been done with those areas of the
site that were the responsibility of IDOT
versus those that weren*"t, and | approached
that objectively.

I evaluated, In some instances,
alternate ways of looking at 1t and tried to
come up with the one that was deemed most
reasonable and understandable and practical and
ultimately defensible.

Q Let me ask you this: As an expert
witness, either In your current engagement with
Bryan Cave or in any of the five prior
Instances where you served as an expert
witness, have you ever been asked to do
something that you weren"t comfortable with?

A In my capacity as an expert witnhess?
Q That"s right. Yes.

A No.

Q Have you ever been asked to do

something you weren"t comfortable with 1n the
context of being a consultant?
A Yes.
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Q Give me an example.

MS. BRICE: Well, objection to the
extent you"re disclosing confidential
information with respect to another client.
Don"t i1dentify the entity is what I™"m
saying.

BY THE WITNESS:

A I won"t 1dentify entities, but,
certainly, we"ve had instances where clients
would like us to, you know, use certailn data iIn
a certain way and perhaps not use other data
that should be used.

BY MR. McGINLEY:

Q Okay. The report that you put
together for this, the current report, when did
you actually first start working on 1t?

A Sometime In 2017.

Q Can you be a little bit more
specific? It"s a whole year.

A It would have been middle of the
year .

Q Middle of the year. Okay. So, say,
June, July of 20177

A That would be reasonable. Yes.
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Q After the Board"s December 2016
interim order and opinion, did you have
occasion to discuss the results of that
decision with anybody at Johns Manville?

A No.

Q What about with Bryan Cave?

A Yes.

Q What did you talk about?

A I had read the order and counsel at

Bryan Cave had read the order, and we were
comparing notes in terms of our understanding
of what 1t meant and what the next steps iIn the
processes might look like.

Q So why don"t you tell me what you
understood the Board"s December 2016 order to
mean.

A That at the end of the day, as a
result of the hearing, that PCB concluded that
IDOT was responsible for asbestos that was
found In certain areas of Site 3 and Site 6 and
that, as a result, they would be responsible
for some portion of the costs that were
incurred as part of the cleanup of those two
areas and that this subsequent hearing would be
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designed to attempt to identify what that
dollar amount would be 1In terms of IDOT"s
responsibility.
Q Did you also understand the Board®"s --

And just for purposes of the court reporter,
PCB 1s Pollution Control Board.

A I1linois Pollution Control Board.

Q Maybe just for purposes of the record
today, let"s just agree to refer to It as the
Board just because i1t will make things cleaner
going forward. Thanks.

So did you understand also, though,
from the Board®"s December 2016 order that some
aspects of the opinions which you had put forth
back 1n 2015 and also at the hearing in 2016
had not been accepted by the Board?

A Yes.

Q So some aspects of -- You had made
certain arguments back in 2015 and 2016 about
the assertions of liability -- Strike that.

You were asserting iIn your expert
report in 2015 that IDOT was liable for all of
the costs i1ncurred with Site 3, correct?

A My previous report I don"t believe
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attributed all of Site 3 costs entirely to
IDOT, but there was a significant segment of
the work that I was indicating should be IDOT"s
responsibility.

Q And the Board did not accept that,
the extent of liability that you were
advocating for back 1n 2015 and 2016, correct?

A That"s correct.

Q And would i1t also be fair to say that
you had advocated for liability to be found in
an expansive fashion for Site 6 and the Board
also did not find liability to be as expansive
as what you were advocating for with respect to
Site 67

A I agree that the Board found that the
IDOT liability was less than what 1 had
advocated in my report.

Q So you were talking with Ms. Brice
after the opinion came down. So what else did
you talk about with respect to the Board®"s 2016
opinion?

A The expectations of what the next
steps might look like and what that schedule
might look like; and at some point, there was a
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discussion of the fact that there would need to
be an expert report prepared by me that would
attempt to do what I just outlined, which was
create an attribution model that would allow us
to 1dentify those costs that would align with
the Board®"s findings and the costs that were
incurred in the work done at Site 3 and Site 6.

Q Did you speak -- When we talk about
Bryan Cave, are we talking about just Ms. Brice
or Ms. Brice and Ms. Caisman? Who exactly at
Bryan Cave were you having these discussions
with?

A Those would be the two.

Q Anybody else?

A No.

Q Anybody from Johns Manville?
A No.

Q So as part of, 1f you will, this
postmortem regarding the Board®"s December 2016
interim order and opinion, what did Ms. Brice
happen to share with you about that?

A I think the only thing that went
beyond that 1s once we understood there would
be another hearing, then 1 was tasked with the
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preparation of the report, the product of which
has now been disclosed.

Q What were the preliminary steps that
you took as part of your work for this next
phase of the case?

A Well, the first thing I had to do was
look at the costs, and there were several other
individuals that had a significant role in the
development and tabulation of those costs
including Dave Peterson and Tat Ebihara. There
had been communications with them as they were
beginning to assemble the costs with a lot of
the work beginning to be finished, and there
was dialogue with them about the tabulations
and some changes that I was looking for to
align the costs that they were creating
together so that there would be comparisons and
that, ultimately, I could then begin making
some sense out of how they then got applied to
the Board Areas of Responsibility.

Q So let's break that down. First of
all, I just want to make sure I understand all
the players. So Mr. Peterson, Doug Peterson,

and Tat Ebihara?
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A Dave.

Q Dave Peterson. Thank you. 1™m
sorry. You"re Doug. He"s Dave. Mr. Peterson,
Mr. Ebihara, correct?

A Correct.

Q Anybody else that you were talking
with about tabulating costs?

A Shannon Flanagan from AECOM probably
was 1nvolved in some of those earlier
conversations with Tat. Usually they were on
the phone. 1 can"t recall the specific ones
that she was on and wasn"t on, but she would
have been involved i1n some.

Q Did you ever have occasion to have
face-to-face meetings with Mr. Ebihara in the
course of assembling these numbers?

A No.

Q What about with Mr. Peterson, did you
ever have any face-to-face meetings with him --

A No.

Q -— 1n the course of putting these
numbers together?

A No.

Q Have you ever met Mr. Peterson face
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to face?
A Not in person.
Q Okay. But you have met Mr. Ebihara
face to face?
A I have.
Q So what did you actually tell them?

I mean, did you give them some sort of general
assignment about how to go about getting you
this information concerning costs?

A I have, and I believe I have
described that in the report in terms of asking
them to tabulate all of the costs for Site 3
and Site 6.

There was an effort because of the
way that the project had been contracted and
invoiced, there was costs for Site 4, 5 that
were intertwined with some of the costs for
Site 3 and Site 6; and part of my request to
them was to pull that out, identify what those
costs were and pull those out since they
weren't relative to this matter.

I then asked them to organize the
costs in some logical way based upon the way

that the project was implemented. And,
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ultimately, they began providing me copies of
tables that were their work effort to tabulate
that information, and there was some dialogue
back and forth as we continued to refine and
fine-tune the formatting and the consistency
between the way the two independent sets of
information were being assembled.

Q Were you -- When you say refinements,
I mean, what did those refinements consist of?

A Well, as you know, having reviewed my
report, we had one matter of trying to
segregate costs between Site 3 and Site 6, and
then we had these different work elements that
we ultimately agreed to consider to be task
buckets, for lack of a better term; and so part
of their effort was then to take the work from
any individual invoice period and assign it
within those task buckets for Site 3 or for
Site 6.

There was a lot of alignment between
the two contractors, but there was a few
differences, and I had to understand what those
differences were so that I could speak to them

in the report.
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Q What do you mean there was a lot of
alignment between the two contractors but you
had to work things out? What kinds of
alignment i1ssues, 1f you could be more
specific?

A Well, for instance, they both worked
on the North Shore Gas Line, and so there was a
ot of alignment in terms of how they
approached tabulating their numbers for the
North Shore Gas.

By contrast, in Tat"s tabulation, he
had a bucket for ramp work that was basically
only supplemental investigation work that
occurred on the 0393 ramp embankment, but there
was no work that was performed by Campanella as
documented by Peterson so that, in his
tabulation, he didn"t have the ramp, but Tat"s
tabulation did.

So 1t was those kinds of deviations
that 1 had to understand and work out.

Q Because some work would have been
unique to either Mr. Peterson on the one hand
or Mr. Ebthara®s folks on the other hand?

A That"s correct.
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0 At what point -- So as you were
getting this information from Mr. Ebihara, from
Mr. Peterson, once they provided that
information to you in tabular form -- And that
was how you received 1t, correct?

A That's correct.

@) Was that the point in which you
started working on the development of your
opinions?

A No. What I really did at that point
was to continue working back and forth as they
continued to refine the presentation of their
cost numbers so that I could understand them as
well as I could.

Then, my next step was to take their
costs and translate them into a -- what you
have seen as Exhibit F in my report, which is
the -- I would consider to be the total-cost
model .

My first task was to attempt to
understand how much money was spent in total on
Site 3 and Site 6, and my attempt to do that
was translated into the table that appears in

Appendix F.
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Q When was your report final?
A Late in June, mid-June, June 13th.
Q What sort of work were you doing on

the report back in the spring of this year?

A I was still working on the cost
model. And then once I had the total cost
picture understood and I could get the various
costs from the various sources to foot, kind of
an accounting perspective, so that I had a
confidence that I had all of the costs
represented and I had them represented
accurately, I then began evaluating the work as
it related to the Board areas of IDOT
responsibility and began coming up with that
allocation model for the costs over time for
each of the buckets. And that effort, again,
was primarily isolated to the -- that
tabulation that's in Appendix F.

0 And that's the total cost model that
you're referring to, correct?

A Right, but it also shows the
allocation to IDOT as well, but it started with
the total cost first.

Q In the course of developing your
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opinion, what discussions did you have with
counsel, Ms. Brice or Ms. Caisman or anyone
else at Bryan Cave?

A There were occasions when 1 would
check 1n with Susan to explain where 1 was at,
what 1 was doing, how | was approaching it.
There would be some modest feedback in terms of
trying to be sure 1| was approaching it in as
logical and as clear a fashion as possible so
it could be understood. 1 have a tendency
sometimes to use the technical terms that allow
things to get lost, and then I would continue
to refine the cost model; and there came a
point in time where 1 felt as though 1 had
reached a point where 1 understood the cost
model both from a total and at least a
preliminary allocation for 1DOT.

Q And you"re saying that Ms. Brice
provided modest feedback? 1 think that was
your expression.

A Uh-huh.

Q And 1t sounds like, 1f I understand
you correctly, that was, shall we say, of an
editorial nature?
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Correct.

L @)

Anything substantive?

No.

(WHEREUPON, Dorgan Exhibit
No. 3 was marked for
identification.)

MR. McGINLEY: For the record, I'm
going to stipulate what I have just handed
to you as Exhibit 3 i1s your report.
However, you will notice, if you look
through this, that the tables are not
attached. We have produced them separately
because in order to get things on a large
enough piece of paper, it Jjust made sense
to break it up. So don't be concerned
about that. We will get to those in a bit.

BY MR. McGINLEY:

Q If I could ask you, please, to turn
to page 1 of your expert report; and if I could
also ask you on page 1 of your report, if you
could read the third paragraph down on page 1
for us, please.

A The top of the page-?

Q No. Third paragraph down.
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A "Based upon my review"?
Q Yes, please, starting there.
A "Based upon my review of the record,

my interviews with wvarious persons involved in
the work and my expertise, I have developed the
following general opinions to a reasonable
degree of professional certainty."

Q What, to your mind, 1is a reasonable
degree of professional certainty? How would
you define that term?

A I think the operative term there is
"reasonable," that we try to approach it
objectively understanding that it's very
difficult to be 100 percent correct all of the
time, but that, on balance, that there may be
areas where we could be -- could be off in one
direction on one issue, off in another
direction on another issue, but in the end, the
balance that's struck is reasonable.

Q And when you say "professional
certainty," what is the -- Let me just go back
and ask you one gquestion first.

In your mind, 1s there a percentage

assoclated with a reasonable degree of
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professional certainty?

A No.

Q So 1s 1t you"re 40 percent certain?

MS. BRICE: Objection, asked and

answered.
BY MR. McGINLEY:

Q well, I mean, how -- How strongly do

you feel when you say ''reasonable degree of
professional certainty"?

A I feel strongly that there i1s a
reasonable degree of professional certainty iIn
the outcome of this work effort.

Q On a scale of one to ten with one
being lowest and ten being highest, where would
you put your reasonable degree of professional
certainty? Quantify it.

A I would put i1t between eight and ten.

Q But that still means that there 1is,
as you have acknowledged, that you"re not
100 percent certain about your opinions,
correct?

A That"s correct.

Q And so there®s still the possibility
that you could be wrong about some of your
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opinions here; isn"t that right?

A I could be wrong about underlying
evaluation and conclusions drawn from my review
of the information. That doesn®"t necessarily
mean that I"m wrong about the opinions that
have been stated.

Q But you could be wrong about the
opinions that you®ve stated, correct?

MS. BRICE: Objection, asked and
answered.
BY THE WITNESS:

A There®s the possibility there could
be limitations with the opinions stated,
certainly.

BY MR. McGINLEY:

Q The paragraph that 1 asked you to
read, you state that "l have developed the
following general opinions to a reasonable
degree of professional certainty.'” Could you
read through those opinions for us, please?

A Yes. "Johns Manville incurred costs
of $5,579,794 for implementing the AOC at Site 3
and Site 6 (“"Implementation costs').

"The implementation costs are
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reasonable and appropriate considering the work
required and performed. JM has incurred
$3,274,917 in implementation costs that are
attributable to IDOT."

0 Thank you. Let me ask you this:

This is the only point in your report where you
say that you have reached opinions based upon a
reasonable degree of professional certainty.

Is the statement of "reasonable
degree of professional certainty" -- obviously,
you're applying it here to these general
opinions 1, 2, 3 that you have Just read.

Are you also saying that you've
reached a reasonable degree of professional
certainty with all the opinions that you've
reached in your report?

A Yes.

0 Okay. But even though 1it's not
actually laid out that way in the body of the
report?

A It would be my opinion that this
reference here would apply to the remainder of
the document.

Q Okay. To your mind, what is the
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professional discipline, 1f you will, that
underlies your opinion that provides the
reasonable degree of professional certainty?

A It would be my past experience in
similar undertakings where I have had occasion
to evaluate other similar issues of
environmental contamination, fate in transport,
where multiple parties are involved and
responsible for their presence and ultimately
responsible for their cleanup, including
instances where I've had to evaluate costs
incurred with a very similar experience where I
had to evaluate the reasonableness, were the
costs reasonable, was the scope of work
reasonable and then of the costs that were
incurred, how should they be divided between
parties that have responsibility for the
cleanup.

Q And did you do that work as an expert

wilitness?

A I have on two previous occasions.
0 And what were those occasions?
A One had to do with a contamination

that emanated from an adjacent property.
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Actually, both of them were the result of
contamination that emanated from an adjacent
property impacting another property with the
underlying issues being how was the
contamination caused and how appropriately to
allocate the cost of the cleanup that remained
and to restore the property to a reasonable
condition.

0] And where did that event -- I mean,

where did those engagements take place?

A One was in Illinois. One was in
Indiana.

0 And the one 1n Illinois was where?

A In the Chicago suburbs.

0 What suburb?

A I don't recall offhand.

Q Did you have to testify with respect
to the expert opinion that you're describing
here in Illinois?

A Only in deposition.

0 And who did you work for? I mean,
who were you retained by in that matter?

A The plaintiff was the property owner
that had had their property impacted.
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Q And what was the conclusion that you
reached, that the adjacent property owner was

responsible; 1s that right?

A Correct.

0 What was the outcome of that matter?
A I don't recall.

Q So you don't know whether or not the

opinion that you offered in that Illinois case
was actually the basis for the resolution of
the case?

A I believe it ended up being material
to an ultimate settlement that the wvarious

parties reached.

Q And why do you have that belief?

A Because I know they reached a
settlement.

Q But they settled the case, but you

can't really say with any certainty the extent
to which your opinion formed the outcome of
that settlement?

A Not sitting here today.

0] What about the one in Indiana, tell
me about that.

A That was a similar issue. Both
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petroleum storage tanks on an adjacent
petroleum terminal had migrated onto an
adjacent site, and very similar issues with
nature and extent, the scope of the cleanup,
what was a reasonable cleanup and how should
the costs be allocated.

Q And did you testify either in
deposition or at trial?

A In deposition.

0O What was the outcome of that matter?

A Again, it settled, as I recall.

Q Do you know to what extent, 1f at
all, the opinion that you offered in that case
was 1nstrumental in the settlement?

A Not sitting here today.

Q So you can't say with respect to
either of the two instances where you have
testified either here in Illinois or in
Indiana, whether the opinion that you offered
in either of those two matters was instrumental
to the outcome in those cases?

A Not as I sit here today.

Q Okay. Thank you. What do you think

is the weakest part of the opinions that you've
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offered In your report?

A I don"t think there"s any weak parts
in my opinion.

Q No weaknesses whatsoever?

A No.

Q Did you do everything that you would
have hoped to have done iIn this report?

A I believe so.

Q Is there anything that you would have
liked to have done that you weren*"t able to do?

A Not that I can think of.

Q No analysis that you would have hoped
to have done that you weren"t able to

undertake?
A No.
Q Was there any information that you

would have liked to have had with respect to
the formulation of your opinions contained in
your current report that you didn"t have access
to?
A Not that I can think of.
MR. McGINLEY: [I"m going to mark
this. This i1s Exhibit 4, 1 believe.
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(WHEREUPON, Dorgan Exhibit
No. 4 was marked for
identification.)
BY MR. McGINLEY:

Q Exhibit 4 has been tendered to you,
sir. It 1s -- As you are obviously aware, i1t"s
your resume. | would like you to look at --
just talk to you about the education component
of your resume.

You had -- You received a Bachelor®s
of Science in Earth science from Eastern
I1linois University, correct?

A That"s correct.

Q Master®s i1n Geography from Northern
I1linois University, concentration in Earth
science, right?

A Environmental science, correct.

Q Environmental science. Sorry. Thank
you. When you were at EIU, did you ever take
any classes In construction management?

A No.

Q Same question with respect to NIU,
did you ever take any construction management
classes there?
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A No.
Q And you also pursued some additional
graduate coursework at Sangamon State, correct?
A Correct.
Q Did you ever do any construction
management coursework there?

A No.
Q Have you ever attended any
presentations on -- since graduating school on

construction management?

A Certainly.

Q You have. Okay. Tell me a few of
them.

A I don"t recall the specifics, but I
have been iIn the career for 35 years now and
have attended all form of seminars over time
and many of them involved, in particular,
remediation construction management.

Q When 1s the most recent --

A Most of the national conferences have
breakout sessions on the topic, and 1 have
attended several of those.

Q When 1s the most recent one you went
to?
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A Within the last five years.

Q Have you ever taken -- When you were
at EIU, did you take any accounting classes?

A No.

Q What about when you were at NIU
pursuing your master"s degree, did you take any
accounting classes there?

A No.

Q Same question for Sangamon State,
ever take any accounting classes?

A No.

Q Have you ever taken any kind of
accounting classes at all?

A I have.
Q Can you tell us about those, please?
A In my capacity as a leader within my

firm, 1 have managed our accounting program for
many years. Shortly before assuming those
responsibilities, 1 had taken a class through
the American Management Association called
Fundamentals of Finance and Accounting for
Nonfinancial Managers, which I found to be
extremely helpful in understanding the
accounting concepts that 1 have to deal with
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every day in my capacity as president of the
company .

Q And I don't see any of those —--
having taken any of that accounting classwork
here on your resume; 1s that right?

A It's generally not something that I
would use on my professional resume for
purposes of establishing qualifications for my
other types of client work.

Q What about coursework in conducting
reviews of legal bills, have you ever taken any
classes about that?

A No.

Q What part of your undergraduate
education qualifies you to offer the opinions
that are set forth in the current report?

A Well, my undergraduate and graduate
educations allowed me to initiate the career
that I did in the environmental field; and as
my technical knowledge grew from the
experiences that I had, my technical role
expanded significantly through the years. I
have designed. I have managed. I have been

the construction manager for large remediation
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projects similar to the one that was undertaken
at Johns Manville. I continue to be involved
in those types of projects to this day.

I've actually been in the role that
Dave Campanella is in having been the
construction manager responsible for
preparation of bids, selection of contractors,
management of contractor invoices, review of
contractor submittals, review of contractor
lien waivers and sworn statements, tracking of
the project expenses relative to the assumed
agreed-upon budgets and ultimately making
recommendations to the owner that payment of
these invoices was appropriate given the
confirmation that the work entailed had been
completed. And so from that perspective, it's
very similar.

I've also had the opportunity to
serve in capacities similar to Tat Ebihara
where I've actually been the consultant that's
been responsible for the design of the work and
the consulting oversight of the work.

So I believe my background is

entirely suitable to have been able to evaluate
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the information that was evaluated and render
the opinions that I did.

Q That's a very interesting
explanation. The question I asked you, though,
was whether your coursework, actually, in
either undergraduate or graduate had provided
you with any basis for the opinions.

A I believe I started out by saying the
coursework led to the type of career I had and
gave me a solid foundation for the experiences
that I've experienced as a professional.

So there would be relevancy even if
they weren't specific to your individual
inquiry.

Q Other than your current work for
Johns Manville on this matter, are there any
other matters that you've worked on since the
start of 2013 that are not listed on the
project experience section of your resume?

A Yes.

@) This is -- So 1s this not an
up-to-date resume?

A Our resumes don't reference every

single engagement we've ever worked on. They
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are intended to provide a representative
example of the types of engagements we worked
on to demonstrate the breadth and scope of our
experience.

Q Have you done anything since 2013
that you believe would be directly relevant to
the work that you've done in the course of
preparing your opilnions as set forth in your
current report that's not listed on your
resume?

A I don't recall the specific projects
that are referenced on my resume, but I would
assume, yes, there are additional projects
since 2013 that would have relevance.

Q Can you give me an example?

A I can tell you right now I'm working
on several projects that are large industrial
properties that are undergoing redevelopment
that have long history of industrial use with
many and wide-varying legacy environmental
issues, and we routinely develop cost models
for the cost of the cleanup. We then monitor
and are involved in the implementation and the

oversight of the work being done that was
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outlined within those models. We track costs
as the costs are incurred. We have
responsibilities for reporting on those costs;
and ultimately, we're responsible for
concluding as to whether the work is
progressing in a fashion consistent with the
approved work plans and whether the costs are
reasonable and whether they should be paid by
the owner.

Q And when you say developing cost
models, I mean, what does that mean, actually?

A That means looking at the information
that's available to us at the time and putting
an estimate together of what we anticipate the
ultimate costs will be to implement a -- some
form of cleanup, whether that be through a
regulatory process or an agreed order or a
state voluntary cleanup program or something of
that nature.

Q So it's an effort to essentially
project -- If I understand you correctly, 1t's
an effort to project what you believe would be
the costs involved. So as part of an overall

development, you can provide an owner with
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information about what you think it will take
to get the property to a point where they can
start whatever development work they want to;
is that a fair summarization?

A Yes.

Q Other than the matter that you were
referring to, the two matters that you referred
to previously about being an expert witness
here in Illinols and also 1n Indiana, are there
any other engagements that you've had as an
expert witness where you were called upon to
provide similar types of opinions about cost
attribution, what you're doing 1in this case
today?

A I have had several, probably a half
dozen other cases, matters, where I have worked
on where I was not necessarily identified as
the testifying expert, but I was working as
part of the team that was evaluating the
information, writing, dissecting information,
allocating costs, evaluating reasonableness of
the costs incurred and ultimately supporting
the technical evaluation that was worked into

the expert's final report.
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Q So you were sort of serving in a
consultative capacity for somebody else who was
being an expert witness; 1s that an accurate

statement?
A That"s reasonable.
Q Prior to the work that you have done

with respect to the current report, have you
ever been asked to analyze and review legal
bills concerning the reasonableness of the fees
that are being billed for them?

A Yes.

Q You have. Please tell me about that.
What are those instances?

A I review the fees that are generated
by legal counsel representing Weaver
Consultants. They have to be approved by me
before being paid by our accounting department.

Q I don"t see any mention of that in
your report.

A I wasn"t sure that i1t was relevant.

Q You didn"t think that i1t would be
relevant that you have professional experience,
apparently, in reviewing legal counsel”"s bills
and then to also make opinions about
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Mr. Manikas®™ with respect to this matter?

A I did not reference In my report the
specific experience | just referenced.

Q How often would you say you®"ve had
occasion to do that?

A Monthly.

Q For how long?

A Ten years. 1 may not receive an

invoice every month but with regularity.

Q So all billings by legal counsel to
Weaver Consultant Group for the past ten years,
you"ve reviewed them?

A As well as other professional
consultants. And 1 would stipulate that 1t may
not have been all but certainly most.

Q With respect to your resume, the list
of publications that"s included here on
Presentations, | see the earliest i1s dated
1989. The most recent i1s 2011. | assume you
have done some presentations since 2011,

correct?
A I have.
Q Have any of those presentations

involved doing cost attribution work similar to
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what you're doing here in the current report?

A Not that I recall.

Q Have you ever done any presentation
on cost attribution analysis or modeling?

A Not that I recall.

Q Have you ever written any publication
about cost attribution analysis similar to what

you're doing in this matter?

A No.

Q If I could ask you to turn back to
your report, please. Let's turn to Page 2.
Under -- This is the paragraph that starts

"During my career, I have extensive
experience," and with respect to Number 3,
"Designing environmental remediation programs
and preparing budgets to support the same.”

Can you glve me an example of where
you have done that?

A Sure. We had a project here in the
western suburbs of Chicago, large industrial
facility, heavily contaminated with PCBs and --
our firm, and I was serving as a senior project
manager. So most of the work was done under my

direction: Was responsible for completing all
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of the investigation of the property and then
preparing all of the work plans that were being
done under a voluntary cleanup program through
the state of Illinois under the auspices of a
settlement agreement that had been reached by
private parties that were responsible for the
cleanup, and we designed the scope of the
environmental work. We put together the
preliminary budgets upon which the escrow was
established to pay for the work, and then we
allocated the costs for the work between the
various parties that were responsible for
funding the escrow.

O And when you say "escrow," I mean,
what 1s the escrow with respect to? How are
you using the term in this instance?

A In the case I was just referencing,
the escrow was funded by the wvarious parties
that were determined to be responsible for the
contamination that was present and so that all
the future work as it was being performed was
being paid for out of the escrow, and we were
responsible for the review of the invoices that

were coming in and the draws and requests on
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the escrow so that the subcontractors would be
paid.

Q So were you working for the holder of
the escrow fund?

A We were working for one of the
parties that was one of the members of the
escrow fund under the agreement reached by the
various parties.

0 And was the escrow -- that member of
the escrow fund, the parties in the escrow
fund, the ones doing the work or were they
outside of that group?

A They were outside -- Well, they were
all responsible for doing the work, but we were
retained to actually manage and oversee the
work that was being done.

Q You know, before we go any further
down this line, I want to ask you just a little
bit more about your experience at Weaver
reviewing legal bills.

So what kinds of legal matters does
Weaver require legal counsel for?
MS. BRICE: Objection to the extent

that you're disclosing any sort of
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confidential internal communications or
confidences of the business.

THE WITNESS: Understood.

BY THE WITNESS:

A As with many firms, we have
occasional matters involving employee law. So
we have issues of employees that have left that
may have certain grievances that they"ll then
make application under various statutes to try
to recover certain rights as an employee.

We have, from time to time,
litigation matters surrounding projects that
we" 1l retain outside counsel to work with our
corporate counsel.

We have i1ssues of corporate
governance documents that have to be modified
and updated from time to time. We have
corporate counsel that helps us with those.

We have counsel that helps us iIn
working with some of our lending institutions
and with some of our members, owners of the
company, and they"ll review documents and
comment on documents and things of that nature.

So 1t can vary from all different
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sorts of types of services.
BY MR. McGINLEY:
Q Have you ever -- Has Weaver ever

retained counsel to advise the company with
respect to real estate matters?

A Yes.
Q And can you elaborate on that?
A We own a piece of property iIn the

western suburbs that we had originally been
involved as a result of having provided some
design services as part of a proposed
development. Part of that arrangement included
us having an ownership interest In the
property, and that hasn"t worked out so well
yet, but we are continuing to work on i1t; and
there®s legal representation working with us on
that right now.

Q Is that the only instance of any real
estate --

A We"ve had other projects that we had
equity positions in that involve real estate,
and we certainly had attorneys looking at those
issues as well.

Q Let"s go back to your qualifications
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under Page 2 of the report. Item Number 4, it
says: Developing bid package specifications.
What would these have been -- What types of
projects would these bid specs have been
developed for?

A Well, just because I used this as an
example already, you'll probably need another
good one. The project that I just referenced
involving the PCB contamination, we developed
all of the bid documents for that document
including the general specifications, the
technical specifications, the contract, the
payment and retainer provisions and all of the
attendant documents that went with that.

Q With respect to Number 6: Overseeing
contractors implementing remediation actions
and managing budget, what's i1mportant about
overseeing work done by contractors? What's
involved with that, from your experience?

A Well, when we're retained in this
role like we were for a big hospital demolition
that occurred in the city, we were responsible
for -- In that particular case, the contractors

were not working for us. They were working for
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the owner, but we were tasked with overseeing
the daily operations, the schedule, payment
requests.

Part of our job was, as the payment
requests were coming in, they would oftentimes
be done on a unit rate base, so unit rate times
quantity, and we had to evaluate whether the
quantity being requested was appropriate and
was actually supported by the work that was
done.

In other instances, they may have
invoices that come in on a percent-complete
basis. So then the contractor tells us that
they think they are 70 percent complete. We
need to make an independent assessment as to
whether that's accurate or not so they're not
seeking payment for more than the actual work
that has been performed. And then, ultimately,
we would typically have weekly construction
meetings with -- usually it involved the owner
and contractors, and we would discuss schedule
and then review their pay requests and,
ultimately, approve the pay requests.

Q Were you overseeing that project?
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A Yes, I was.

Q As part of your duties, were you
issuing anything like a daily progress report,
anything like that?

A We had individuals that were working
on site that were, yes.

Q In your experience, 1s a daily
progress report something that should be done
any day that there's construction work taking
place?

A It's not unusual to create daily
progress reports.

Q Okay. And what's the purpose of a
daily progress report? What are you trying to
document with that?

A What took place that day because, as
you can imagine with a big project like that
with as much as is typically going on, trying
to remember what occurred on any given day can
be difficult without some progress report that
you can refer back to.

Q As part of this work that you have
done, have you also -- you're reviewing costs

that are being billed for or sought by the
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contractors, correct?

A That"s correct.

Q And 1 take 1t you"re looking to
ascertain the reasonableness of costs that are
being billed for?

A Yes.

Q Or sought to be paid out by the
contractor?

A But when 1 say "‘reasonableness,”™ I™m
saying reasonableness with respect to the
completed scope. Reasonableness of whether --
the costs, individual costs, usually takes
place at the point in time when the contractor
IS bidding on the work.

Q In your experience as -- in this kind
of oversight capacity, 1s i1t fair to describe
It as being oversight work?

A In many instances, yes.

Q Okay. Have you ever been confronted
with instances where a contractor had to redo
work on a project?

A Yes.

Q So what happens i1f the work has to be

redone because of the fault of the contractor?
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Maybe the contractor doesn't do the work
according to the specifications. Have you ever
seen a situation like that?
A Certainly.
@) So in a situation like that, the

contractor wants to be paid. Do you pay the
contractor when they have to do, in essence, a
do-over or do you Jjust say the loss falls to
you, SOorry?

A It really depends on what the
specifications say in terms of rework; but
oftentimes, work that is required to be redone
because of the faultiness of the original work
would typically be something that the
contractor would not be paid for.

MR. McGINLEY: Before I start my next

line of questions, how about we take a

quick five-minute break.

THE WITNESS: That's fine with me.
(WHEREUPON, a short
break was had.)

BY MR. McGINLEY:
0 Mr. Dorgan, if I could ask you to

turn to page 2 of your report. This 1is
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Section 1.2, Information Considered. One
preliminary question: I notice that in your
prior reports back in 2015, the expert report
that you did as well as the rebuttal report,
you had included a bibliography in both of
those earlier reports, but you didn't include a
bibliography in this report.

I was just wondering i1f you could
give us an 1dea as to why you didn't include a
bibliography here?

For sake of clarity, the bibliography
was a separate exhibit attached to the report.
So, 1f you could, I mean, what was the thought
process in not including one here?

A It was a bit practical. Certainly
having some of the challenges we had with the
bibliography from the first report, I hoped to
avoid that. This report I elected to include
more of the references as footnotes in the
actual document itself. One of the benefits of
that is that the way that Microsoft Word works,
as soon as you insert a footnote, all the other
footnotes automatically adjust, and so I didn't

have a problem with having to go back and
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renumber every time something new was added.

So most of the references are
included directly in the report as a footnote,
and I would also speculate that there is
perhaps not quite as many references as there
were in the first phase of the matter.

Q It says that "To prepare this
report," first sentence under Section 1.2, "in
addition to relyling upon my experience and my
involvement in the first phase of this case, I
have reviewed various documents and deposition
testimony associated with the investigation of
the sites." And I will just end right there
for a second.

I assume by the deposition testimony
reference, you are referring to the depositions
of Mr. Peterson, Mr. Myers from Johns Manville
as well as Mr. Ebihara; is that right?

A That's correct.

Q With respect to the various
documents, could you elaborate on what the
various documents were that you reviewed to the
extent that you recall?

A Well, of course, the documents that
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were being produced by Dr. Ebihara and
Mr. Peterson, the remedial action work plan
was --

Q I'm sorry. Let me just stop you for
one second. I hate to do it, but I just want
to make sure we're clear about this.

You're saying the documents that were

produced by Mr. Ebihara and Mr. Peterson, just
break that out, please?

A Those were their cost tabulations.

Q Okay. So their cost tabulations?

A Yes.

0 Fine. Thank you.

A And the cover letters that came with
them.

0 Right. Thank you.

A The completion report was finalized

at some point along the way. I can't say that
I reviewed every single word of the document,
but I certainly spent some time with it trying
to understand the information that was
presented. Those would have been examples of
the types of documents I was referring to.

@) Besides the cost tabulation and the
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final report, what else did you look at?

A Of course I reviewed so many original
records relative to the original specifications
that were designed for the Amstutz project,
some of the figures that were included in the
previous hearing as I selectively pulled some
information that were presented in that one
into this one. That would be -- I mean, I'm
sure there's a few others that I'm not thinking
of right now, but those are kind of examples of
the one that I was looking at.

Q You're saying original records and
the figures. When you're referencing figures,
are you Jjust describing or do you mean to
reference only the -- what, the as-builts from
IDOT for the Amstutz project or are there other
figures that you were referring to?

A No, the Amstutz and then the figures
that were used in the hearing I looked at.

Q Okay.

A And, of course, there's several
exhibits in my report that --

Q That's right. Yes. We will get to

those. You interviewed some folks in the
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course of preparing your opinions in the
current work, correct?

A Correct.

0 And who did you interview?

A Primarily Dr. Ebihara and, as I think
I indicated earlier, there may have been
occasions when Shannon Flanagan had been on the
phone as well. Usually not. And then Dave
Peterson; and I had a very brief phone call
with Scott Myers at one point in the process.

0 With respect to Mr. Myers' brief
phone call, do you recall what the subject
matter was about?

A Basically to have him explain to me
their payment process. I had been provided the
payment records that Johns Manville had
produced demonstrating that the payments that
had been received had been made showing no
outstanding amounts other than for work that
was still pending.

That had also been communicated to me
by both Dr. Ebihara and Mr. Peterson, and my
question was really a simple one, which is: To

the best of your knowledge, has everything been
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paid? Is there anything that's not been paid?
Is there anything that won't be paid for
whatever reason? And he confirmed for me that
all of the invoices that had been received had
been paid, and he expected that any future
invoices received would be paid as well.

Q So you think that was just a one-off
occurrence with Mr. Myers?

A That's what I recall, yes.

0 And with Mr. Peterson, was it one
time that you spoke to him or more than one
time?

A More than one time.

Q And when you say -- I mean, you've
indicated in your report that you interviewed
Mr. Myers -- I'm sorry. Not Mr. Myers --

Mr. Peterson, Mr. Ebihara. So did you prepare
a list of guestions or anything like that
before you sat down and spoke with

Mr. Peterson?

A Yeah. I would typically have some
questions as I was working through looking at
their tables, and I would be asking them
specific questions about the way that the table
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was constructed, asking them questions to help
me understand the thought process, make sure |
had clear in my own mind what the differences
were between how they were breaking out their
costs. So that would be pretty typical, and
that was an ongoing process.

Q And how would you create those lists
of questions, on your computer? Were you doing
it by hand?

A I would have them on my report or on
the draft of the table that 1 was working off
of.

Q How many times do you think you spoke

with Mr. Peterson over the course of this
project?

A I would say at least a half dozen
times.

Q What about for Mr. Ebithara, how many
times do you think you spoke with him?

A Probably the same.

Q Similar process with both Mr. Ebihara
and Mr. Peterson, you would develop a list of
questions, sit down and speak with them and
then work through your guestions to get your
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answers?
A Yes.
Q And the -- When you say "the chart,"

I assume that you were creating this in Excel
or what were you creating the document 1in?

A Well, there were three. There were
the tables that Dr. Ebihara and Mr. Peterson
were giving me, and then there was a table that
I was creating, which is Exhibit F in the
report. I had PDF versions, I believe, from
Dr. Ebihara; I had an Excel version from
Mr. Peterson; and, of course, my document was
being generated in Excel.

O I'm sorry. PDFs were from
Mr. Peterson and Excel was from Mr. --

A No. Mr. Ebihara provided the PDFs,

and Mr. Peterson provided Excel.

Q And you were creating your chart in
what?

A Excel.

Q Would the -- You wouldn't have any

separate notes outside of what you were putting
into your chart?

A That's correct.
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Q Did you review all of the invoices
from contractors and consultants that were
generated over the course of this project?

A I did not.

Q Have you reviewed any of the
invoices?

A I did. 1 selectively looked at
various invoices to understand how they were
structured and the type of content that was

included.

Q Did you receive copies of all the
invoices?

A Yes.

Q Were you provided copies

of all the invoices?

A Yes.

Q At what point were you provided with
those 1nvoices?

A Second half of 2017.

Q And when you say you selectively
looked at invoices, what were you hoping to --
what i1nformation were you hoping to glean from
looking at those i1nvoices?

A I really wanted to understand what it
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was that both Dr. Ebihara and Mr. Peterson were
seeing as 1t related to how they then
translated those i1nvoices iInto the tabulations
that they were preparing.

Q Did you just choose the i1nvoices
yourself or did Mr. Ebithara or Mr. Peterson
suggest invoices that you should look at, and
then you can both look at them together?

A No. | just spot-checked.

Q You just spot-checked?

A Yeah.

Q Okay. Are you familiar with the term
"redaction"?

A Yes.
Q What"s that term mean to you?
A Where material on a document has been

overwritten or hidden in some way so that it
can"t be viewed by others.

Q In the course of your doing any of
the work that you did on the current report,
were you provided with documents that were
redacted?

A The Manikas invoices. The consultant
or the legal expert that assisted with some of
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the entitlement work on easements did have some
redacted items on the invoices that | reviewed.

Q Were you provided with unredacted
copies of those invoices?

A No.

Q Just the redacted?

A Correct.

Q IT I could turn your attention,
please, to page 4 of your report, Section
1.41 -- 1.4.1, 1 should say. Could you read
that first sentence for us, please?

A "IM entered into the AOC with USEPA
in 2007. The AOC required that JM iInvestigate
and, to the extent necessary, remove ACM found
at certain locations.™

Q Okay. You can stop there. Thank
you. In fact, the AOC was entered into by both
Johns Manville and Commonwealth Edison; isn"t
that right?

A I"m not sure 1 can confirm that
independently.
Q You"re not aware of the fact that

Commonwealth Edison i1s also a respondent under
the AOQC?
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A I'm aware that Commonwealth Edison is
involved. Whether they are a signatory to the
AOC is not something I spent any time looking
at.

@) Are you also aware that in the
earlier phase of this case with respect to the
environmental technical documents, 1f we could
characterize them as such, you're familiar with

the environmental evaluation, the EECA,

correct?
A Yes. I am.
O You're familiar with the remedial

action work plan and its various i1terations,

correct?
A Yes. Correct.
@) And you're also then, I take 1it,

familiar with the fact that both the EECA, the
various versions of that, as well as the
various versions of the remedial action work
plan jointly being submitted by Commonwealth
Edison and Johns Manville to USEPA, correct?

A I don't recall that offhand, but I
won't argue that that's not the case.

Q Did you go back and look at any of
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those -- either the EECA or the remedial action
work plan in the course of preparing the
current report?

MS. BRICE: Objection, asked and
answered. You can answer.
BY THE WITNESS:
A I did.
BY MR. McGINLEY:

Q But yet you didn't notice whether
Commonwealth Edison was also a party to those
documents or listed as co-submitters of those
documents; 1s that your testimony?

A That wasn't the purpose of